
AT Section Meeting 
March 5, 2015 

Page 1 of 2 

Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy and Athletic Trainers Board 
Athletic Trainers Section Meeting 

March 5, 2015 
9:00 a.m. Roll Call 

77 South High Street, 31st Floor, Board Room 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 

1. Administrative Matters

1.1 Agenda Review 

1.2 Approval of Minutes 

Action Required 

1.3 Executive Director Report (15 Minutes) 

1.4 Executive Session: TBA 

1.4.1 To discuss pending and imminent court action (ORC 121.22 (G)(3)) 

1.4.2 To discuss personnel matters related to: 

 Appointment; Employment; Dismissal; Discipline; Promotion; Demotion; Compensation
(ORC 121.22 (G)(1)- (see Item 7.2) )

 Investigation of charges/complaints against a public employee, licensee, or regulated
individual in lieu of a public hearing (ORC 121.22 (G)(1))

1.4.3 To discuss matters required to be kept confidential by federal law, federal rules, or state 
statutes (ORC 121.22 (G)(5)) 

1.5 Discussion of Law and Rule Changes  

2. Administrative Reports

2.1 Continuing Education (5 Minutes) 

2.1.1 Application for Waiver of Continuing Education 

2.1.2 CE Denial Appeal 

2.1.3. CE Request for Approval 

2.2 Event Approvals (5 Minutes) 

2.3 Licenses (5 Minutes) 

2.3.1 Athletic Training Licensure Applications 

Action Required 

2.3.2 Licensure Renewal Report 

2.4 Adjudication (10 Minutes) 

2.4.1 Enforcement Report 

2.4.2 Notice(s) of Opportunity for Hearing 

2.4.3 Consent Agreement(s) 

2.4.4 Releases from Consent Agreements 

2.4.5 Affidavit Consideration(s)  

2.4.6 Hearing Officer Report(s) 

2.4.7 Summary Suspension(s) 



 

AT Section Meeting 
March 5, 2015 

Page 2 of 2 

2.4.8 To discuss proposed disciplinary action against a licensee pursuant to ORC 121.22 (G)(1) 
and pursuant to 121.22 (G)(5) that involve matters required to be kept confidential under 
ORC sections 149.43 (A)(2) and 4755.02 (E)(1) 

2.5 Licensure Renewal Reports 

3. Assistant Attorney General Report (5 Minutes) 

4. OATA Report (5 Minutes) 

5. Open Forum (5 minutes) 

6. Old Business (5 Minutes) 

6.1 OATA Presentation  

7. New Business (10 Minutes) 

7.1 International Athletic Training Students 

8. Correspondence 

9. Next Meeting Preparation 

9.1 Agenda Items 

9.2 Executive Director Assignments 

10 Adjournment 



Athletic Trainers Section 
January 7, 2015 

Page 1 

Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, 
and Athletic Trainers Board 

Athletic Trainers Section 
January 7, 2015 

9:00 a.m. 

Members Present 
Jason Dapore, DO  
Aaron Galpert, AT 
Brian Hortz, AT, PhD, Chair 
Kimberly Peer, AT, EdD, Secretary 
Susan Stevens, AT, EdD 
Trevor Vessels, Public Member (arrived @ 9:33 am) 

Legal Counsel 
Melissa Wilburn, AAG 

Staff 
H. Jeffery Barker, Investigator 
Diane Moore, Executive Assistant 
Adam Pennell, Investigator Assistant 
Lisa Ratinaud, Enforcement Division Supervisor 
Jeffrey Rosa, Executive Director 

Guest 
Paul Miller, OATA 
Siobhan Fagan, OATA 

Call to Order 
Brian Hortz, Chair, called the meeting to order at 9:04 a.m. 

Approval of Minutes 
Action: Kimberly Peer moved that the minutes from the November 5, 2014, meeting be approved as submitted. 
Jason Dapore seconded the motion. The motion carried. 

Executive Director’s Report 
 The Executive Director informed that Section that the Governor’s Executive Budget will be released in

February 2015. 
 The Executive Director informed the Section that he testified before the Ohio Youth Sports Concussion and

Head Injury Return to Play Guidelines Committee regarding the scopes of practice for athletic trainers and 
physical therapists. 

 The Executive Director informed the Section that the State is still exploring alternate solutions for the new
licensing system. 

The formal Executive Director’s report is attached to the minutes for reference. 

Discussion of Law and Rule Changes 
The Section reviewed the 2015 Five Year no change rules and proposed rule changes. 

Action: Kimberly Peer moved that the Athletic Trainers Section file rule 4755-45-02 as a no change rule. Dr. Peer 
further moved that the Athletic Trainers Section file proposed changes to rules 4755-43-08, 4755-45-01, and 4755-
46-02. Aaron Galpert seconded the motion. The motion carried. The Section will hold a public rules hearing at the 
March 2015 meeting pending the feedback from the Common Sense Initiative Office. 

Administrative Reports 
Licensure Applications 
Action: Susan Stevens moved that the Athletic Trainers Section ratify, as submitted, the athletic training licenses 
issued by examination, endorsement, and reinstatement by the Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and 
Athletic Trainers Board from November 5, 2014, through January 7, 2015, taking into account those licenses subject 
to discipline, surrender, or non-renewal. Jason Dapore seconded the motion. The motion carried. 

Examination Applicants 
Argentati, Jessica Bertsos, Samuel Dubroy, Kristen 
Fahrnbach, Joseph Geroski, Lauren Hasemeyer, Evan 

DRAFT

Agenda 1.2



Athletic Trainers Section 
January 7, 2015 

Page 2 

Imri, Christopher Puthoff, Emily Ross, Jennifer 
Williams, Jenna Workman, Danielle  
 
Endorsement Applicants 
Bruning, Judith Macrum, Elisabeth Mahan, David 
 
Reinstatement Applicants 
Brooks, Eric Lawton, Katie Mast, Amy 
Nye, Sarah Yeager, Jenna  
 
Continuing Education Approval 
Brian Hortz reported that two continuing education applications were approved since the November 5, 2014 
meeting.  
 
Event Approval 
There were zero event approval requests reviewed since the November 5, 2014 meeting. 
 
Licensure Renewal Report 
There was no formal report for the Section.  
 
Assistant Attorney General Report 
Melissa Wilburn, AAG had no formal report for the Section. 
 
Case Review Liaison Report 
Brian Hortz reported that the Enforcement Division opened three new cases and closed five cases since November 5, 
2014 meeting. There are eight cases currently open.  
 
Enforcement Actions 
None 
 
Old Business 
Review Draft of Technology Summary 
The Section reviewed the revised technology summary. The Executive Director will post the technology summary 
on the Board’s website. 
 
New Business 
Review Draft Article for OATA Newsletter 
Susan Stevens presented the draft article for the OATA newsletter pertaining to licensure implications of practicing 
prior to the license being issued. The Section approved the article as drafted and will forward the article to OATA 
for inclusion in the upcoming newsletter. 
 
Correspondence 
None 
 
Ohio Athletic Trainers Association (OATA) 
Siobhan Fagan, had no formal report from OATA. Ms. Fagan asked the Section to clarify the rules process for 
changing administrative rules vs. statue changes. The Section will write an article for the OATA newsletter to 
explain the rules process. 
 
Open Forum 
Brian Hortz informed the Section that there has been an increase in number of athletic training graduates who have 
started working as an athletic trainer prior to obtaining licensure. Dr. Hortz recommended that the Board add a 
question on the application to make individuals aware that it is illegal to practice athletic training without holding a 
valid license. The Section was in favor of adding a question on the application to clarify that the individual will not 
work in Ohio without a valid license. 
 

DRAFT



Athletic Trainers Section 
January 7, 2015 

Page 3 

The Executive Director informed the Section that Adam Pennell, Investigator Assistant, accepted a new position 
with the Attorney General’s office. The Section thanked Adam Pennell for his service to the Board. 

 
Items for the Next Meeting 
 OATA Presentation 
 Rules Hearing  
 
Next Meeting Date 
The next regular meeting date of the Athletic Trainers Section is scheduled for Thursday, March 5, 2015. 
 
Adjournment 
Action: Aaron Galpert moved that the meeting be adjourned. Jason Dapore seconded the motion. The motion 
carried. The meeting adjourned at 9:57 am.  
 
Respectfully submitted,  
Diane Moore 
 
 
 
  

Brian Hortz, AT, Chair 
Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and 
Athletic Trainers Board, Athletic Trainers Section 
 

 
Kimberly Peer, AT, Secretary 
Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and 
Athletic Trainers Board, Athletic Trainers Section 

 
 
 
 

  

Jeffrey M. Rosa, Executive Director 
Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and 
Athletic Trainers Board 

  

 
KP:jmr:dm 

DRAFT



Credential Name Status
AT Applicant - Examination ATTERBURY MEGHAN COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination CARROLL ASHLEY COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination DARLING JOSHUA COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination FOLEY MARK COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination FUCCI CHANTEL COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination GAZDIK KIRK COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination GRUEL-WRIGHT TONYA COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination HOMADY AMANDA COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination KLAINE CHRISTOPHER COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination KUTZ KRISTIN COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination MIKESELL JAY COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination MORROW ABIGAYLE COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination NAPOLITAN NICHOLAS COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination PACHOLEWSKI ELISE COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination STEELE SAMANTHA COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination WHALEY WHITNEY COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination ZEMITES ERICA COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Examination Count 17
AT Applicant - Endorsement DAVIE EMILY COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Endorsement DIMOS STEPHANIE COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Endorsement GRUNKEMEYER LYNN COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Endorsement INGERSOLL CHRISTOPHER COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Endorsement MACGREGOR JON COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Endorsement OSBORNE STEPHANI COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Endorsement SAEGER CARYN COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Endorsement Count 7
AT Applicant - Reinstatement DANIELS JESSICA COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Reinstatement EACHES JUSTIN COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Reinstatement TAUBER LAUREN COMPLETED
AT Applicant - Reinstatement Count 3

Agenda 2.3.1



ATHLETIC TRAINERS SECTION 
ENFORCEMENT REVIEW PANEL MEETING 

Date:  March 5, 2015 

Meeting Time: 8:00 am-8:10 am 

Board Office Conference Room-16th Floor 

Statistics: 

“New” cases opened since the January meeting:  1 

Cases “closed” at the January meeting:  5 

Cases “currently open”:  2 

Active consent agreements: 0 

Occupational Therapy Section 
New cases opened since the January meeting: 3 

Cases closed at the January meeting: 4 
Cases currently open: 21 

Active consent agreements: 1 
Adjudication monitoring: 1 

Physical Therapy Section 
New cases opened since the January meeting: 5 

Cases closed at the January meeting: 4 
Cases currently open:  22 

Active consent agreements:  14 
Adjudication orders being monitored:  1 

*Statistics as of 2/24/15

Agenda 2.4.1



Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and Athletic Trainers Board 
77 South High Street, 16th Floor Governor
Columbus, Ohio 43215-6108 John R. Kasich

Executive Director
Jeffrey M. Rosa

614-466-3774 (phone) ● 614-995-0816 (fax) ● board@otptat.ohio.gov ● http://otptat.ohio.gov 

AT Correspondence – March 2015 

No. Correspondent Name and Subject 

1. Holly Kozak, AT: Ms. Kozak asked the Section if athletic trainers can work as a physician extender and take a
verbal order from a physician to order x-rays.

DRAFT

Agenda 8







 
 

Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and Athletic Trainers Board 
77 South High Street, 16th Floor  Governor
Columbus, Ohio 43215-6108  John R. Kasich

  Executive Director
  Jeffrey M. Rosa

 

614-466-3774 (phone) ● 614-995-0816 (fax) ● board@otptat.ohio.gov ● http://otptat.ohio.gov 

AT1 
 
Hollie Kozak, AT AT.000300 
kozakh@summahealth.org 
 
Dear Ms. Kozak: 
 
This letter is in response to your correspondence regarding whether athletic trainers can work as a physician 
extender and take a verbal order from a physician to order x-rays. 
 
The Ohio Revised Code pertaining to athletic training does not specifically prohibit an athletic trainer from working 
as a physician extender in an emergency department. Therefore the following questions should be asked to 
determine whether the required skills are within the athletic training scope of practice: 
 
A. Is the task represented in entry level education and practice? 

B. Has the practitioner had continuing education to adequately prepare them to perform the task? 

C. Does this task provide for safety and welfare of the client? 
 
This foundation should provide the framework for analyzing and determining if a task in within one’s “personal” 
scope of athletic training practice. If the professional can provide supporting evidence that adequately addresses 
these areas, then the task is considered within that athletic trainer’s scope of athletic training practice.  
 
We would also refer you to two documents that will assist you in determining entry-level education and athletic 
training practice. These documents include the Role Delineation Study/Practice Analysis, Sixth Edition which 
identifies the essential knowledge and skills for an entry-level athletic trainer, published by the Board of 
Certification, Inc. and can be found at http://bocatc.org/resources/role-delineation-study-practice-analysis and 
Athletic Training Education Competencies (5th Edition) which is published by the National Athletic Trainers 
Association and recognized by the Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education as the knowledge, 
skills an clinical abilities to be mastered by professional program students.  It can be found at 
http://www.nata.org/education/education-resources.  
 
According to section 4755.60 (A) of the Revised Code, treatment consists of the techniques and procedures used in 
giving care in situations where assistance is required or requested. Such actions should be reasonable and prudent 
within the scope of practice of athletic training. 
 
All treatment should be rendered in accordance with any established protocol for the venue. Physician directives 
should be followed at all times. Permission to treat should be obtained. Athletic trainers should not attempt any 
treatment measure unfamiliar to them or outside the scope of athletic training practice. Some variance may be seen 
in treatment, depending upon educational background, facility or setting limitations, and patient response. These 
variances based upon advanced education or training must be identified within the standard operating procedures 
and reviewed and approved by the team physician or medical director as dictated below. 
 
Standard Operating Procedures: It is the professional responsibility of every athletic trainer to have written policies 
and procedures. Athletic trainers are encouraged to review current policies and procedures with their employers to 
determine if the existing policies are within the scope of athletic training practice. 
 

DRAFT



 
 

Ohio Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and Athletic Trainers Board 
77 South High Street, 16th Floor  Governor
Columbus, Ohio 43215-6108  John R. Kasich

  Executive Director
  Jeffrey M. Rosa

 

614-466-3774 (phone) ● 614-995-0816 (fax) ● board@otptat.ohio.gov ● http://otptat.ohio.gov 

The Athletic Trainers Section has no guidelines with regards to policy and procedure content. However, the Athletic 
Trainers Section does advocate that all athletic trainers have written policies and procedures to guide the day-to-day 
operations of athletic training care. 
 
If no athletic training policies and procedures exist, please establish them and put them in writing. Standard 
operating policies and procedures should be reviewed and approved by a team physician or an organization’s 
medical director. 
 
In the case of ordering x-rays, the physician needs to be the ordering party, though these orders could be carried out 
by the athletic trainer acting in accordance with the physician protocol or order. Verbal orders can be accepted from 
a physician by an athletic trainer. The challenge with verbal orders is the lack of written documentation from the 
physician. As such, these verbal orders must be fully documented in the athletic trainer’s documentation for the 
patient, including all relevant information and the fact that it was a verbal order. It is also preferred that the 
physician also document the verbal order in his or her patient documentation.  
 
The Section thanks you for your correspondence and appreciates your understanding that it is your 
professional responsibility to remain current with professional standards. Please visit the Board’s website 
(http://otptat.ohio.gov) to review the Athletic Training Practice Act and other information related to the 
regulation of athletic training in Ohio. You can also obtain updates from the Board at our Facebook 
(http://www.facebook.com/OhioOTPTATBoard) and Twitter (http://www.twitter.com/OhioOTPTATBd) 
pages. Should you have any additional questions, please contact the Board at (614) 466-3774 or via e-
mail at board@otptat.ohio.gov. 
 
Sincerely, 
The Athletic Trainers Section 
 
 
 
Jeffrey M. Rosa 
Executive Director 
 
JMR:dm 
 DRAFT



1

Moore, Diane

From: OTPTAT Board
Sent: Wednesday, February 11, 2015 10:25 AM
To: Moore, Diane
Subject: FW: International Athletic Training Students- Ireland
Attachments: AIT Memorandum of Understanding 14 (5).docx; AIT's Clinical Practice Expierence Aims 

Final14.docx; Programme AIT ACS(2).docx

This is for AT agenda new business 7.1 

From: Collins, Kayla Shinew [mailto:shinew@ohio.edu]  
Sent: Tuesday, February 03, 2015 4:20 PM 
To: OTPTAT Board 
Cc: Orozco, Christina 
Subject: International Athletic Training Students- Ireland 

Jeff, 
    We have been contacted by Gene Verel, coordinator for an AT international exchange program through Ireland, Athlone 

Institute of Technology. We are in the preliminary stages of checking on all of the administrative aspects of coordinating this unique 
opportunity. The program would consist of several Irish student coming to OU for a semester (Aug-Dec) to complete 3 different clinical 
education rotations at our clinical sites (approved affiliated clinical sites). The students would be in their senior year of education and 
meet the BOC exam qualifications which now include Ireland and Canadian Programs. The students would be just like our traditional 
AT students, ie engaged in direct patient care under the supervision of a licensed preceptor. The students would also be enrolled in our 
Practicum course (AT 4921 Senior Practicum), similar to our traditional senior AT students. 

Our concern is in compliance with the AT Bylaws in specification of the definition of a “student,” as per the bylaws 4755-46 
and 4755-46-02. We just wanted to clarify what the appropriate steps would be to have these international students comply with these 
regulations. During their time in the OH, they would still be enrolled in their home institution, Athlone Institute of Technology, but also 
enrolled as an “non-degree seeking” student at Ohio University. Under this scenario, do they qualify to fall under the bylaws standard of 
an “athletic training student?” 

Attached are templates provided by their exchanged coordinator, to help give you some additional insight into this program. 

Please let us know your thoughts and the appropriate direction to guide us legally to comply with the bylaws. 
Best regards, 

Kayla Shinew, PhD, AT 
Professional AT Program Director 
Ohio University 
Grover Center E331 
Athens, OH 45701 
740.593.9497 
shinew@ohio.edu 

Please complete our customer service satisfaction survey: http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=sUWq5umoKqrSVfOi1HjsoQ_3d_3d 

Agenda 7.1



2

This email message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is addressed. It may contain information that is privileged, confidential, and 
exempt from disclosure under the law. If the reader of this email message is not the intended recipient you are notified that any dissemination, distribution, or 
copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you receive this communication in error, please notify the Board immediately by telephone and immediately 
delete this email message. In addition, this message and any response to it may constitute a public record and thus may be available to anyone who requests it 
(ORC 149.43). Thank you. 



Memorandum of Understanding 

between 

Athlone Institute of Technology (Ireland) 

and  

X 

This Memorandum of Understanding is between the Athletic and Rehabilitation Therapy 

degree course in Athlone Institute of Technology (hereafter referred to as "AIT") and the 

Athletic Training/Athletic Therapy Department in _________________, wishing to establish 

relations between the two institutions and agree to cooperate with each other as follows:  

I. SCOPE OF THE COOPERATION 

Subject to mutual consent, the areas of cooperation will include any program offered at either 

institution as thought desirable and feasible on either side and that both sides think will 

contribute to the fostering and development of the cooperative relationship between the two 

universities/institutes. 

The principle purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding is to facilitate an exchange of 

Athletic training/therapy students for a semester long term placement to US and Canadian 

universities and the implementation of special short-term academic programs for 

US/Canadian Athletic training/therapy students in AIT.  

Additional activities could emerge which include:  

a. Exchange of faculty and/or staff 

b. Joint research activities and publications 

c. Participation in seminars and academic meetings 

d. Exchange of academic materials and other information 

 

The two parties' addresses are: 

X 

 

Athlone Institute of Technology, Dublin Road, Athlone, Co. Westmeath, Ireland. 



 

 

II. TERM AND TERMINATION 

This Agreement shall be effective when executed by both parties for a period of three 

years (3) and may be renewed in writing and signed by authorized representatives of the 

parties.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, this Agreement may be terminated by 

any one of the participating institutions at any time, for any reason and without liability, 

by submitting written notice to the other party at least six (6) months prior to the date of 

termination.  In the event of a notice to terminate, the Program will continue to operate 

until any student accepted into the Program or any current clinical internship student in 

the Program has completed the entire designated internship period. 

III. INDEMNIFICATION  

a. X agrees to defend and indemnify and hold harmless AIT, its affiliates, subsidiaries, 

and parent and their directors, trustees, officers, agents, servants and employees from 

and against any and all claims and liabilities (including reasonable attorney’s fees and 

expenses incurred in the defence thereof) relating to personal injury or property 

damage to the extent arising out of the negligent acts or omissions of X’s faculty 

members, employees, regents, trustees or, officers in connections with their 

responsibilities under this Agreement. 

 

b. AIT agrees to defend and indemnify and hold harmless X and its trustees, regents, 

officers, employees and faculty members from and against any and all claims and 

liabilities (including reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses incurred in the defence 

thereof) relating to personal injury or property damage to the extent arising out of 

conditions existing at AIT and/or the negligent acts or omissions of AIT’s directors, 

trustees, officers, employees, servants or agents in connection with their duties at AIT, 

including without limitation their supervisory duties under this Agreement.  If the X 

incurs any expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, in connection with 

enforcing AIT’s obligation to defend, indemnify and/or hold X harmless, AIT agrees 

to reimburse X for any and all such expenses. 

 

 



c. Each party agrees that it shall give the other party prompt notice of any claim, 

threatened or made, or suit instituted against it which could result in a claim for 

indemnification above. 

 

d. Both parties agree that in the event that indemnification is sought under this provision, 

the party seeking indemnification shall furnish the indemnifying party, upon request, 

all information and assistance available to the indemnified party for defence against 

any such claim, suit, or demand.  

Athlone Institute of Technology (AIT) agrees to:   

a. Select a maximum of X qualified Athletic and Rehabilitation Therapy students each 

academic year to participate in the Program, provided said students satisfactorily meet 

all Program/Admissions requirements as established by AIT and X as well as the legal 

and health requirements for international exchange including visa requirements; 

 

b.  Officially inform AIT students of their exchange acceptance status; 

 

c. Provide written confirmation of the selection of AIT students to the X designee on 

student interns; 

 

d. Design and provide special short-term academic programs for X students. This 

program will be available to students in any year of the Athletic Training program and 

faculty. This bilateral institutional involvement allows students and faculty from both 

institutions to expand their experiences. AIT will work with X to articulate the 

intent  and expectations of the program; 

 

e. Prior to the start of the placement, review policies and procedures governing practice 

at the identified clinical facility at which each AIT exchange student will perform 

his/her internship; 

 

f. Advise students to purchase health insurance before departing Ireland. 

 

1. X (X) agrees to:  



a. Assist AIT exchange students with housing arrangements; however, X cannot 

guarantee housing; 

 

b. Assign a Director of Clinical Education to provide administrative oversight, guidance 

and mentorship to AIT exchange students throughout their period at X abroad; 

 

c. Provide the visiting AIT students with appropriate learning opportunities. X will 

maintain all student education records in strict confidence.  Student education records 

shall not be used or disclosed except as permitted or required by this Agreement, as 

required by law, or as otherwise authorized in writing by the respective institution or 

student. 

 

d. Provide a tutorial on the US healthcare system to AIT exchange students; 

 

e. Prior to the start of the placement, review policies and procedures governing clinical 

practice at the identified clinical facility at which each AIT exchange student will 

perform his/her internship. 

IV. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

a. Visiting exchange students shall be governed by X’s own policies and procedures. 

 

b. X reserves the right to reject and/or terminate a visiting exchange student for failure to 

conduct himself or herself in accordance with the clinical facility’s and/or the host 

institution’s standards, procedures, policies, rules and regulations or if the continued 

participation of the student jeopardizes patient care and/or safety. 

 

 

c. No fees will be charged for the purpose of this agreement.  Furthermore, X agree to 

waive any and all tuition and clinical site fees, if appropriate, as related to the 

activities pertaining to this agreement. Students who wish to enrol in additional 

undergraduate courses beyond the scope of this agreement will be charged the 

prevailing undergraduate tuition at the time of their enrolment. 

 



d. Both AIT and X will assist the selected students with the application for student visa. 

AIT will instruct students to apply for the visa selected by X.  

 

V.  MARKETING AND PUBLICITY  

a. Both Athlone Institute of Technology and X will use all reasonable endeavours to 

promote the reputation of the other and, in particular, to promote the collaborative 

provision and activities through this agreement. 

 

b. External advertising and publicity relating to the programmes under this agreement 

will be jointly agreed between Athlone Institute of Technology and X.  Programme 

information will be published on both institute websites.   

 

c. No trademarks, logos, or symbols owned or awarded by Athlone Institute of 

Technology may be used by X on any advertising without prior written permission 

from Athlone Institute of Technology or vice versa. 

 

VI. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, COPYRIGHT, FREEDOM OF 

INFORMATION AND DATA PROTECTION 

 

a. Copyright in all processes and systems relating to the award of credit and to awards 

made by Athlone Institute of Technology will remain with Athlone Institute of 

Technology and must not be used in any other context without permission. 

 

b. Copyright in all processes and systems relating to programmes or processes in X will 

remain with X and must not be used in any other context without permission. 

 

c. All intellectual property rights including copyright of teaching materials developed 

for programmes provided through the partnership will remain the property of the 

partner responsible for their development.  In the case of joint courses, intellectual 

property rights will be jointly held for the duration of the related Programme 

Agreement and must not be used by either partner in any other context without 

permission.  



 

d. In the event of the partnership agreement being terminated, intellectual property rights 

for all teaching materials will revert to the partner responsible for their development.   

 

e. In signing this agreement, approval is hereby given by Athlone Institute of 

Technology and X for appropriate institutional and programme information to be 

available for public access via the internet or other agreed medium as required by the 

external regulatory bodies and other similar national organisations. 

 The parties to this collaboration agreement are committed to comply with their 

obligations and responsibilities under the relevant Acts covering freedom of 

information and data protection. 

 

VII. LAWS AND JURISDICTION 

 

a. The Contract shall be governed and interpreted in accordance with the Law of the 

Republic of Ireland and the laws of the United States of America/Canada.   

 

b. The Contract supersedes any previous contracts. 

 

VIII. ARBITRATION 

 

a. Disputes arising out of or in connection to the present agreement may be settled by 

mutual agreement between the President of X and the President of AIT. If the dispute 

cannot be settled by mutual agreement, it will be brought to an external party for 

arbitration. 

 

b. The terms and conditions of this Agreement represent the entire understanding 

between X and AIT with respect to the subject matter of this agreement.  

Representatives from both parties must sign below to agree to be bound by all the 

above terms and conditions, and to put this Agreement into effect. 

 



 

X        Athlone Institute of Technology 

Name      Professor Ciarán Ó Catháin 

Title                President 

 

 

Signature:                   Signature: 

 

 

…………………………………..             …..………………….……….. 

 

   

Date: …………….……………       Date: ………………………… 

 



 

 
Department of Life and Physical Science 

 Athlone Institute of Technology 
Dublin Road, 

Co. Westmeath 
Ireland 

00-353- 90-6483042 
 

Clinical Practice Experience for the BSc. in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation 

Background 
The BSc. in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation is a four year undergraduate degree 
programme which had its first intake of students in September 2012. Sports Therapists with 
Rehabilitation have an educational background specialised in the prevention, assessment and 
diagnosis, treatment, and rehabilitation musculoskeletal injuries related to physical activities. 
The programme has become accredited by Athletic Rehabilitation Therapy Ireland (A.R.T.I.) 
the governing body for Irish Athletic Trainers and Athletic Therapists this year. A.R.T.I. has 
been heavily involved in ensuring all their accredited courses align to and are of the same 
standard of Athletic Training programmes in the US and Athletic Therapy programmes in 
Canada.   

The clinical practice experience for this programme takes place in the first semester in the 
last year of the degree programme to facilitate the optimal development of the student’s 
competencies during this time. The student will have completed all key clinical classes: 
(Anatomy, Injuries and Therapies 1-4, Orthotics and Strapping, Rehabilitation and Return to 
Competition, Advanced Sports Therapies, Prehabilitation Screening, Fitness Injury 
Prevention, Trauma Management and Drugs in Sport). The students will have had extensive 
exposure to best practise in record keeping and will be very familiar with the important skills 
of history taking, clinical reasoning and clinical examination.  They will have had supervised 
and independent attachments to teams from various sporting disciplines and will have 
researched and presented numerous cases to tutors and peers. The students will also have up 
to date qualifications in Emergency First Response and Cardiac First Response by the 
regulating emergency care body in Ireland: The Pre-Hospital Care Council of Ireland 
(PHECC).  

In the BSc. in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation, students attend biweekly placements with 
collegiate teams from semester 2 of year 2, and throughout year 3. They also will have 
developed, set up, advertised and worked in the student-led musculoskeletal clinic in AIT 
under the supervision of Siobhán O Connor (MSc. A.R.T.C.) and Anna Postawa (Chartered 



Physiotherapist). Thus, the students will be adequately prepared for a clinical experience that 
involves all the domains of a certified Athletic Trainer/Therapist. The course has been 
structured specifically to offer them this opportunity at a stage when they are clinically 
competent to  offer both a high standard of clinical care and profit well from the experience. 

The academic coordinator for this formal exchange agreement will be Siobhán O Connor 
(MSc. A.R.T.C.), through her role as programme coordinator of the BSc. in Sports Therapy 
with Rehabilitation. Siobhán is also the Vice President of A.R.T.I., the governing body for 
Athletic Rehabilitation Therapists in Ireland.  

A formal exchange agreement with the host institution in this manner is beneficial, to 
continue the AIT’s students education in emerging themes and global competencies.  

Aims 

The aim of this module is to provide the student with a structured introduction to employment 
in the area of preventing, assessing, diagnosing, treating and rehabilitating injuries. This 
module allows students to gain experience in the culture, nature and structure of a working 
environment in the field. Each student will be placed in a relevant area where they will 
evaluate and critically reflect on their experience. During this time, the student will also begin 
a research project in conjunction with a lecturer in AIT. During their time they will be 
expected to formulate a research proposal, complete an ethics submission and begin their 
literature review. 

The learning aims for this placement are as follows 

1) The student will gain experience as the clinical attendant to athletes of various 
standards, from diverse sporting backgrounds and at various stages of the injury 
process. 

2) The student will gain 20 hours per week minimum of direct clinical work which will 
include 

 Attendance at competitive games 
 Attendance at training sessions 
 Pre-game taping 
 Pre-and post-game massage 
 Assessment of injured athletes 
 Design, delivery and supervision of structured and sport specific rehabilitation 

programmes 
 Direct involvement in preventive strategies such as preparticipation screenings 

and injury prevention programmes 
3) The student will maintain records of all clinical hours worked as well as clinical notes 

on all patients seen. 
4) If possible, the student will rotate through attachments with different sports, if this is 

feasible in the host institution 
5) The student will contribute to the educational program of the host institute as directed 

by the host tutor.  This may involve attending lectures, seminars, clinical skills and 
sessions.  It may also involve teaching 1st and 2nd year students if the host institution 
requires.  



6) The student will complete the AIT research proposal, ethics submission process and 
literature review with regard to their final year project. The testing for this project will 
take place in AIT the following semester.  

7) The student will engage fully with any ongoing research activities in the host 
institution, if possible. 

 

Student Assessment 

The student will maintain a structured learning log and will engage in reflective practice 
weekly using an innovative package purchased by AIT called Student Diary Pro (SDP). The 
eDiary is accessed online by the student using their individual usernames and codes. The 
eDiary allows the student to document skills and tasks completed, identifying the core 
competencies and underpinning knowledge /skills as pre-determined by the team here at AIT. 
This facility allows the academic coordinator to follow the experiences of the student 
throughout their time in the host institution and make professional recommendations as 
necessary. A disclosure protocol is utilised to protect the host institution. This module will be 
then be formally assessed with an end of placement appraisal form completed by the host 
institution in discussion with the academic coordinator. 

AIT will also request the host institution to grade the student formally using an end of 
placement appraisal form with the academic coordinator from AIT. Each student will receive 
a grade of excellent, good, average, and poor for:  

 Record keeping 
 History Taking 
 Clinical reasoning 
 Clinical examination skills 
 Treatment techniques 
 Rehabilitation skills 
 Presentation skills 
 Interaction with patients 
 Interaction with staff 
 Initiative 
 Reliability/time keeping 
 

 



Athlone Institute, Ireland, Appendix B: Full Description of Programme/Curriculum  
BSc (Hons) in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation  

Level 6                                                                                                
                                                                               Year 1   
INSTITUTION:  Athlone Institute of Technology
TITLE OF AWARD:  BSc in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation
AREA OF SPECIALISATION:  General
LEARNING MODE OFFERED:  Full‐Time
STAGE:  1 ‐ Theme: Fundamentals of Science and Introduction to Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation
DATE EFFECTIVE:  September 2012

 
   

 
Stage: 1  Award  0 Elective(s) Required Exam Sessions:  1)  Summer 2) Autumn
 

M
od

ul
e 

Se
m
.  TITLE OF EXAMINATION MODULE 

(Title of Component Module) 
Module 
Status 

ECTS Credits  Contact Hours
(per week)  Allocation of Marks 

Level  Number  L/T  P  Total  C.A.  Practical  Final  Max. 
1  1  Learning to Learn  M 6 5 1  2 3 100 100

2  1  Mathematics for Sport and Health M 6 5 3+1  4 30 70 100

3  1  Introduction to Sports Therapy and Rehabilitation M 6 5 2  1 3 100

4  1  Cell Biology  M 6 5 2  2 4 20 40 40 100

5  1  Human Physiology 1  M 6 5 2  2 4 20 40 40 100

6  1  Anatomy and Conditions of the Lower Quadrant M  6  5  2  2  4    60  40  100

7  2  Anatomy and Conditions of the Upper Quadrant M 6 5 2  2 4 60  40  100

8  2  Human Physiology 2  M 6 5 2  2 4 20 40 40 100

9  2  Introduction to Biomechanics  M 6 5 2  2 4 20 40 40 100

10  2  Fitness Injury Prevention  M 6 5 3  1 4 60 40 100

11  2  Emergency First Response  M 6 5 1  2 3 100

12  2  Business with IT for Sports Therapy M 6 5 2  2 4 60 40 100

 
Total ECTS Credits required for Stage:  60

 



BSc (Hons) in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation  
Level 6                                                                                                
                                                                                 Year 2   
INSTITUTION:  Athlone Institute of Technology
TITLE OF AWARD:  BSc in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation
AREA OF SPECIALISATION:  General
LEARNING MODE OFFERED:  Full‐Time
STAGE:  2 ‐ Theme: Anatomy/Conditions/Injuries
DATE EFFECTIVE:  September 2013

   
 

 
Stage: 2  Award  0 Elective(s) Required Exam Sessions:  1)  Summer 2) Autumn
 

M
od

ul
e 
 

Se
m
.  TITLE OF EXAMINATION MODULE 

(Title of Component Module) 
Module 
Status 

ECTS Credits  Contact Hours
(per week)  Allocation of Marks 

Level  Number  L/T  P  Total  C.A.  Practical  Final  Max. 

1  3   Injuries and Therapies 1  M 6 5 2  2 4 50 50 100

2  3   Anatomy and Conditions of the Spine  M 6 5 2  1 3 50 50 100

3  3  Sports Nutrition  M 6 5 3  1 4 20 30 50 100

4  3  Clinical Testing for Sports and Health Science M 6 5 2  2 4 20 30 50 100

5  3  Human Psychology  M 6 5 2  2 50 50 100

6  3  Marketing and Law   M 6 5 3  3 100 100

7  4  Injuries and Therapies 2  M 6 5 2  2 4 20 30 50 100

8  4  Introduction to Clinical Practice with Student‐
Led Clinics 1  M  6  5  1  2  3  50  50    100 

9  4  Applied Human Physiology  M 6 5 2  2 4 20 30 50 100

10  4  Anatomy and Conditions of the Head, Thorax 
and Abdomen. 

M  6  5  2  1  3  50    50  100 

11  4  Kinesiology Biomechanics  & Motor Control M  6  10  2  2  4    30  70  100 

 
Total ECTS Credits required for Stage:  60

 
 



BSc (Hons) in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation 
 
 
Level 7                                                                                                
                                                                            Year 3 
INSTITUTION:  Athlone Institute of Technology
TITLE OF AWARD:  BSc in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation
AREA OF SPECIALISATION:  General
LEARNING MODE OFFERED:  Full‐Time
STAGE:  3 ‐ Theme: Injuries/Diagnosis/Therapy
DATE EFFECTIVE:  September 2014

 
 
Stage: 3  Award  0 Elective(s) Required Exam Sessions:  1)  Summer 2) Autumn
 

 
 
Total ECTS Credits required for Stage:  60

M
od

ul
e 
 

Se
m
.  TITLE OF EXAMINATION MODULE

(Title of Component Module)  Module 
Status 

ECTS Credits  Contact Hours
(per week)  Allocation of Marks 

  Level Number L/T P  Total C.A. Project Practical Final Max.
1  5 & 6  Application of Clinical Reasoning Skills 

with Student‐led Clinics 2 
M  7  10  0  3  3  80    20    100 

2  5  Research Methods  M 7 5 1 1  2 40 60 100

3  5  Drugs in Sport  M 7 5 3   3 40 60 100

4  5  Orthotics and Strapping  M 7 5 2 2  4 60 40 100

5  5   Injuries and Therapies 3  M 7 5 2 2  4 10 30 60 100

6  5   Advanced Sports Therapies  M 7 5 1 3  4 30 40 30 100

7  6  Injuries and Therapies 4  M 7 5 2 2  4 40 60 100

8  6  Rehabilitation and Return to 
Competition 

M 
7

5  1  2  3  30    70    100 

9  6  Trauma Management  M  7 5  2  2  4  20    80    100 

10  6  Diagnostic Imaging  M 7 5 2 1  3 40 60 100

11  6  Sports Psychology  M 7 5 2+1   3 40 60 100



 
 

BSc (Hons) in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation  
 
Level 8                                                                                                
                                                                             
INSTITUTION:  Athlone Institute of Technology
TITLE OF AWARD:  BSc in Sports Therapy with Rehabilitation
AREA OF SPECIALISATION:  General
LEARNING MODE OFFERED:  Full‐Time
STAGE:  4 – Theme: Clinical and Advanced Therapy/Rehabilitation 
DATE EFFECTIVE:  September 2015

 

M
od

ul
e 

Se
m
.  TITLE OF EXAMINATION MODULE 

(Title of Component Module) 

Module
Status  ECTS Credits  Contact Hours

(per week)  Allocation of Marks 

  Level  Number  L/T  P  Total  C.A.  Project  Practical  Final  Max. 

1  7 and 
8 

Clinical Practice Placement With 
Integrated Capstone Research 
Project* 

M  8  45        43  57      100 

2  8  Strength and Conditioning  M 8 5 2    2 100 100

3  8  Psychology of Sports Injuries and 
Rehabilitation 

M  8  5  2    2  30      70  100 

4  8  Legal and Ethical Issues in Sport M 8 5 3    3 30 70 100

 
Total ECTS Credits required for Stage:  60
 

SPECIAL REGULATIONS: *Module 1: Clinical Practice Placement with Integrated Capstone Research Project:  Research Project [20] ECTS + 6‐month Clinical Practice 
Placement [15] ECTS.   
 
Note:  The Clinical Practice Placement begins on June 1 at the end of Year 3 and finishes on November 30 in Semester 7 of Year 4.  There will be a series of milestone 
competencies assessed at various stages during the 6‐month placement.  The assessment of the integrated Research Project component takes place at the end of Year 4.  
The research project is based on research carried out during the placement period at the placement centre and is fully integrated in this Capstone module. 


	AT Agenda March 2015
	Agenda 1.2 Draft AT Minutes January 2015
	Agenda 2.3.1 Licensure Applications
	Agenda 2.4.1 Enforcement Report
	AT Agenda 7.1 International Athletic Training Students
	International AT Students Ireland Email
	MOU
	Clinical Practice Experience
	Programme

	Agenda 8 Correspondence



